Endnotes

For Abrams 1849-1851 journals

From Chet Ogan's personal genealogies, notes, family stories, and research into the life of his great- great grandfather William Penn Abrams.

- - - THE ABRAMS FAMILY  - - -

1st Generation 

Richard Abraham was born about 1520 in Quainton, Buckingham, England, died in England about 1580.

His child: 

2nd Generation

William Abraham was born about 1543 in Quainton, Buckingham, England, and died after 1612. His child:

3rd Generation

Richard Abraham was born about 1570 in Warrington, Lancaster, England married 26 Nov 1593 in Stratford-on-Avon, Warwickshire, England, Judith Woodward. Richard died before 3 Sep 1624, England.  Of 13 children, their child:

4th Generation

Woodward Abraham was born about March 1613 in Quainton, Buckingham, England, and married Prudence. Woodward died 8 Feb 1693/4 in Chesham, Bucks., England. Of about 9 children, their child: 

5th Generation
William Abraham, a Puritan merchant, was born about 1670 in Sherburn, Oxford., England married Mary and had three sons, William, Woodward, and Benjamin.  William died 9 Oct 1734 in Sherburn, England.  His will probated 10 Oct 1734 recognizes Abraham, William, of Sherburn, Oxon., gent., names - “my son William Abraham in Boston, New England . . .” Their child: 

The first 5 generations above are from a March 1926 manuscript, THE ABRAHAMS OF BUCKINGHAMSHIRE compiled by Henry T. Averling, a descendant of this Abrams family.

6th Generation Came to America
Captain William Abrahams was born about 1685 in Sherburn, Oxford, England, son of Puritan merchant, William Abraham. He was a distiller and the owner of the ship William Abraham. He married (1st) on 27 Nov 1704 in Charleston, Massachusetts, Mary Evans and he died 25 Aug 1763 in Charleston, Massachusetts. Nothing is known about Mary Evans who died about 1718. Their youngest son James was lost at sea.  Capt. William Abrahams married (2nd) Martha Hill about 1719 and had 6 children. The oldest son of William and Mary Evans Abrahams: 

7th Generation.

John Abrams I, from Sherburn Oxford, England, was born abt 1705 in England, and was owner of a pew in the “Old North Church” in Boston, came to New England with his father and settled in Boston, Massachusetts. On 24 March 1736 in Amesbury, MA, John, a mariner, married Margaret Lee. John and Mary both died after 1753.  Eight children of this couple were born in Boston, including:

8th Generation

John Abrams II, son of John Abrams and Margaret Lee, was born 22 July 1737, in Boston, MA. He married on 4 March 1758, Mary Crocker, daughter of Daniel Crocker and Sarah Marchant.  They settled in Amesbury, MA, in 1866. He was a captain of the schooner “Good Hope” that traded between New England and Africa.  Mary was born 6 Oct 1742 in Gloucester, Mass. and died after 1775 in Amesbury, MA, and John died after 1788 in Salisbury, MA. Their son:

9th Generation

John Abrams III was born in Amesbury, MA, 3 May 1766, and in 1789 in Hampstead, NH married Mehitable Harriman, who was born 30 Sept 1762. They moved to Sanbornton, NH, shortly after their marriage, where he built a shingle and grist mill on Prescott Creek, east of Hill Bridge in 1791 and lived on Lot 57, 2nd Div. according to old town records, where he died 29 Aug 1841. Mehitable died 26 July 1844.

10th Generation

John Abrams IV, son of John Abrams III, a millwright and farmer, was born in Sanbornton, NH, 18 Jan 1793, and retained his father’s home. Married (1st) Sarah Abbott 14 Dec 1815, who died 16 May 1817, age 22 years.  John Abrams married (2nd) Nancy Rollins 11 June 1818, daughter of Jotham Rollins and Keziah Burleigh, and died 26 Feb, 1837.  Married (3rd) Ruth Sanborn, widow of Aaron Faver, 6 June 1838, who died 2 Jan. 1870 in Tilton, NH.  John Abrams came to Oregon in 1851 to visit his son in Portland, Oregon, and on his return east two years later via the Isthmus route died of Panama (yellow) fever on 4 July 1853 and was buried at sea in the Gulf of Mexico. 

11th Generation- - - CHILDREN OF JOHN AND NANCY ABRAMS

1. Sarah Abrams   Born 15 Feb. 1819. She married Franklin Cheney of Lowell, MA, and died there 1877.

2. William Penn Abrams (Subject of this sketch), a third-generation millwright, was born 15 Aug. 1820, in Sanbornton, NH.  At 18 years he traveled via the Erie Canal and Mississippi River, with a cousin Cyrus Colby to Gainesville, AL, where he operated a steam sawmill. Returning to New England for mill parts, he brought back his sweetheart, Sarah Lavina Phelps, daughter of George Morey Phelps (1788-1845) and Sarah Whittle Fitch (1816-1834). They married 11 Oct. 1842 in Franklin, NH.. He died                          Portland, OR, 26 Nov. 1873. Sarah died 22 April 1909 in Portland, OR. 
3. Rebecca Chapman Abrams    Born 8 Nov 1823. Came to Oregon with her father in 1851, married William Otway in 1852, and removed to Australia, and died 9 Apr 1911 in St. Arnaud, Victoria. 
4. Rosinda Abrams   Born 29 Jan 1825. Married William Preston of Revere, MA, died 6 Aug. 1896.

5. Daniel Kendrick Abrams    Born 1 June 1829. He came with his brother and family to Portland, Oregon, in April 1851 with the subject, remained 2 years and returned to New Hampshire. Married 2 April 1854 to Mary M. Chapman. After her death 25 Aug. 1864 Daniel returned to Oregon where he was a farmer and raised stock, residing at Ridgefield, Clark County, WA, where he died 26 Aug. 1911.

6. Betsy Ayers Abrams  Born 15 Feb 1831, died 10 Oct 1835.

7. Dr. Nancy Jane Abrams   Born 9 March 1835, graduated from Boston University with a Doctorate in Medicine in 1866, married Sanborn G. Simon, moved to Oregon where she practiced homeopathy and was a midwife, receiving her Washington physician license in 1890. Her husband died at Waitsburg, WA; residing (1910) at Vancouver, WA, she died in Spokane, WA, 2 Feb, 1922.

12th Generation-

Six children were born to William P. and Sarah Abrams of whom Sarah Lavina (b 25 Aug. 1843) and William Rollins survived to adults.  Sarah Abrams Hogue married Harvey A. Hogue, 24 Dec. 1861, died 21 Dec. 1926 in Portland.  William Rollins Abrams was born 2 Jul 1848, in Gainesville, AL. and died 7 Jun 1921, in Vancouver, Washington. Their son:

13th Generation

William Rollins Abrams married 3 Feb 1870 in The Dalles, OR, Eliza Alice McFarland (b 3 Feb 1854 Shoalwater Bay, WA Terr., d 12 Oct 1935, Long Beach, CA). William R. Abrams died 11 Jun 1921 in Vancouver, WA. To William R. and Alice Abrams were born William Luen, Alice Lavina, Martha Evelyn, and Ruth Helen Abram, b 16 Jul 1892, in Ellensburg, WA.  Their daughter:

14th Generation

Ruth Helen Abrams married Edgar Edson Buker, 4 April 1920, in Vancouver, WA.  To them were born in Vancouver, WA, Donna May Buker (21 May, 1921) and Chester Abrams Buker (7 Aug, 1923). Their daughter:
15th Generation

Donna Buker married 16 Jun 1946 in Hollywood, CA, Reginald Treloar Ogan.  Reg Ogan was born 16 Dec 1917 in Carpinteria, CA and died 13 Jan 1991 while living in Carpinteria, CA. Donna died 17 Jan. 2019, Carpinteria, CA). To Donna and Reg Ogan were born Chester (Chet) Vance Ogan, 22 Mar 1947, Needles, CA, Susan Elizabeth Ogan, 29 Sep 1949, Glendale, CA, and Laura Lee Ogan, 20 Dec 1955, Monterey, CA). All three are living (2020). 
This description of Sanbornton, New Hampshire, is from Washington, D.C.  National Intelligencer 1823-1825

     In a new paper denominated the Weekly Visitor, published at Sanbornton, N.H. we find the following account why the place was so denominated:

     Sanbornton was granted by the Masonian Proprietors in 1748, to John Sanborn, Daniel Sanborn Jr., Wm. Sanborn, Jeremiah Sanborn, Jabez Sanborn, Sanborn, Josiah Sanborn, Ebenezer Sanborn, Jonathan Sanborn, Josiah Sanborn, jr, Martin Sanborn, and 48 others. The account goes on—

     In 1767, the proprietors raised sixty dollars to pay towards preaching the gospel, and continued so to do, until 1771, when they raised ten dollars on each original right, or share, to assist the inhabitants in settling a minister; and likewise, in 1773, they voted to assist in building a meeting house.

     The following extract given a pleasant picture of the simplicity of the times:

     "Sanbornton was incorporated in 1770, and in [1771] the town, assisted by the original proprietors, settled the Rev. Joseph Woodman in the ministry, with a salary of two hundred dollars per ann. one hundred and twenty of which was to be paid in cash, and eighty in labor.  They also voted, “that he should have liberty to preach old Sermons when his health would not admit of his making new ones.”

     Let us come time to modern times—

     At Sanbornton Bridge, which connects this town with Northfield, is a growing village, in which is situated an Academy, which was incorporated in 1820, and is now in a flourishing state.  There are in town, fifteen Sawmills, fourteen Grist-mills, six Carding-machines, an Old mill, five Clothing-mills, one circular saw Clapboard-machines, twelve stores, about five hundred dwellings, three thousand five hundred inhabitants.  There are four Religious Societies, two Incorporated Musical Societies, three Libraries, containing about 7000 volumes, and one Fund Association.  The surplus produce, &c. of the town is estimated to exceed $25,000 annually. 


On October 10th 1839, William Penn Abrams, age 19, and his 1st cousin Cyrus Colby, age 18, left their family homes in Sanbornton, NH, with $180 between them and set off for Gainesville, Alabama, where the lumber business was beginning to boom*.  They traveled by carriage through Boston to Providence, RI, where they took a steamer to New York City, thence up the Hudson River to Albany, NY, across the Erie Canal to Buffalo. Stopping over for two days in Buffalo, searching for the agent of the transportation company to sell them a ticket to Chicago, Mr. Abrams and Cyrus Colby took passage October 26, 1839, aboard the Great Lakes steamer “Fairport,” Captain Kennedy master, for Chicago. Aboard the steamer they found themselves with fellow passengers, “150 Swiss emigrants and 150 whites, all bound west and south, who crowded the boat from stem to stern.”


After a rough passage on the lakes, due to storms of the season, which caused them to make port frequently, and further delays entailed in “wooding up,” coal not being used on the steamers at the time, they arrived on November 4, 1839, in the “pleasant and thriving village of Chicago” at 8 A.M., where Abrams prophetically wrote, "although we made but a short stop, sufficient business made it evident that, at some future day, not too far distant, Chicago is destined to be a great and flourishing city.”  Engaging with two others, a carriage, they left Chicago at 10 A.M. the same day for Peru, IL, and in a short time they “entered the wide and vast prairies of Illinois, through deep mud and almost impenetrable sloughs."  They took a steamboat down the Mississippi River reaching New Orleans, Nov 28th 1839, then "proceeded on towards Mobile, first by railroad to Port Pontchartrain" and from thence by steamboat Walker, and arrived November 30 at Mobile. They boarded the steamer Express on Dec 4th bound up the Tombigbee River for Gainesville, Alabama, which grounded Dec 7th. With two other passengers they set off on foot 125 miles reaching Gainesville Dec 11th, 1839.  A few days later Abrams was employed in the Gainesville Steam Mill Company and Cyrus Colby was employed as a blacksmith.


William P. Abrams remained in the machine shop of the Gainesville Steam Mill Co., until spring, when he was made engineer of the mill and soon afterwards assumed charge of the lumber yard.  Yellow Fever caused frequent shutdowns of the mill because many people were too sick to continue operations. Abrams and Colby sought relief, traveling to Cuba in 1841. In 1842 Abrams and the sawmill manager, Mr. Thomas Lewis, traveled to New York for machine parts, Abrams continued to New Hampshire and married Sarah Lavina Phelps 11 Oct 1842 and returned to Gainesville with his new wife.  Sickness continued to plague the family. Vina's brother, George R. Phelps, visited them and died there in 1843. 


Business matters at Gainesville continued to move steadily but the summers were a sickly time, and many people about the mills either died or were compelled to move elsewhere, and in the fall both William and Vina Abrams were down with the chills and fever, taking “good portions of quinine” every few days.  In November 1848, his cousin, Cyrus Colby was failing with consumption [tuberculosis], and Mr. Abrams accompanied him to New Orleans for medical aid, and remained with him for a few weeks until Colby’s wife, Martha, could reach him, after which they returned to Alabama.  Colby seemed to improve, but after his return to Eutaw grew worse and died there April 13th, 1849, seven weeks after Abrams' departure for California.

1849-2-24 

Mr. Abrams health became worse as spring advanced; his doctor advised he must leave for some other climate for his health, as he could not last through the summer.  Gold had been discovered in California, and some friends persuaded him to go with them to the Pacific coast, all joining in a common fund for the journey. By the time of his departure to California, Abrams was a 25% partner in Gainesville Steam Mill Company with Mr. Thomas Lewis. 

1849-3-8              

Eutaw Mining Company of Alabama as listed in the passenger list of brig Copiapo
Name



Occupation

Home

Joseph J. Ducette

Lumberman

Alabama

Charles Ducette

Lumberman

Alabama

I. D. Carpenter

Student

Alabama

William P. Abrams

Engineer

Alabama

John A. Richardson
Farmer

Alabama

I. T. Dance


Farmer

Alabama

A. I. Caldwell

Prospector

Alabama

Upton H. Reamer

Carpenter

Alabama

J. L. R. Bowen

Physician

Alabama

J. S. Bratten


Mason

Alabama


Amos C. Adams

Blacksmith

Alabama

The original in William P. Abrams' handwriting gave only initials for first names.  Some first names for Eutaw Mining Company were included in Abrams' journal entries or gathered from other sources.

1849-3-14  

Daniel Kendrick Abrams returned with his brother, William P. Abrams to Portland, Oregon, in 1850/51 where he lived for 2 years, returning to New Hampshire about a year before his marriage to Mary M. Chapman, 2 Apr 1854.  After Mary’s and his son’s death, 25 and  29 Aug. 1864, he returned to Oregon where he farmed and raised stock at Ridgefield, Clark Co., WA.  He died 26 Aug. 1911 in Ridgefield, WA.


Obituary “Oregonian” Portland, Oregon August 27, 1911 for Daniel Kendrick Abrams.



Daniel Kendrick Abrams. Vancouver, Wash., Aug. 26, [1911] --Special-- At the age of 82 years, Daniel Kendrick Abrams, one of the oldest pioneers in Washington, died today at he home of his niece, Mrs. H. L. Hathaway, at 900 Eleventh Street.  Mr. Abrams came to the northwest for the first time around the Horn.  He returned to his home in New Hampshire in 1853, where he was married to Miss Nancy M. Chapman in 1854.  In 186[4]1 he came to Ridgefield, Wash., where he formed a partnership with A. A. Knox This partnership continued until it was dissolved by death today. Mr. Abrams is survived, besides his niece, Mrs. Hathaway, by two sisters, Dr. Nancy J. A. Simons , and Mrs. Rebecca C. Otway, of Australia. He was a member of the Hassalo Street Congregational Church, of Portland and a member of Ridgefield Lodge No. 152, Oddfellows. Burial will be at Ridgefield.

Abrams Park, a popular, well-used community park near Gee Creek in Ridgefield, Washington, was given to the city by the Abrams Family in the early 1900's.  Nature, walking trails, ball fields, picnic areas, and community-wide events (not to mention wading in Gee Creek) are regular activities of the people of Ridgefield.

Cyrus Colby   After his mother's 2nd marriage to Gardner Bowers (1837), and the death of his brother on 29 July 1839, Cyrus came to Gainesville, Alabama, with this journal author, his first cousin, William Penn Abrams.  Cyrus Colby was born 24 Nov 1821 in Sanbornton, New Hampshire, son of Ebenezer Colby and Sally Abrams, W. P. Abrams' aunt. He married about Feb. 1849 Martha nee Crook, widow of Newport Bragg.  Martha was a daughter of Dr. Andrew Barry Crook of Greenville, SC (Bragg Genealogy).  Cyrus Colby died 13 Apr 1849 in Eutaw, Alabama, leaving a son, born posthumously 10 July 1849.  Shortly after the death of Mr. Colby, his widow removed to Little Rock, Arkansas, with her infant son and 3 or 4 children by her first marriage where she resided until her death.

1849-3-24. 

Damien L. Angier born 25 December 1820 in New Hampshire, married 28 December 1843, in Marshall County, Alabama, to Selina Frances Lummus of South Carolina.  He died 21 July 1901 a widower, and was buried in Goliad, Texas. In 1849 and 1850 Damien Angier operated a mule train between Stockton and the mines between the Mokelumne and Calaveras rivers. The Angier's ran a successful store and boarding house at Pleasant Springs near Alabama Hill, Calaveras County, supplied by a partner, Adolphe Hoerchner in Stockton (John Doble's Journal, note 9 page 297). From 1859 to 1885 D. L. Angier is listed on the Goliad, Texas, tax rolls.    

John Doble's Journal , note 9 page 297

1849-4-21 

On the evening of April 21st the company reached Panama, having made the last eighteen miles in five and a half hours.  Here they met some of the friends who had preceded them and felt more encouraged to proceed, and the next day the whole company secured passage for San Francisco in the Chilean brig “Copiapo,” Capt. Joshua Knowles, of Roxbury, Mass., master, Mr. Abrams taking a cabin for himself and two others, for which he paid $250 each.  It was absolutely necessary to secure the passage at once although the time of sailing was quite indefinite.  The company remained at Panama until May 12th, camped within sight of the city, which was much larger than he expected to see, but most of it was in ruins.  While in Panama Mr. Abrams saw Mrs. Jessie Fremont with her daughter Lily, while on her journey with her daughter to join John C. Fremont in California.
1849-5-11  

Thomas Tennant, Pennsylvania. [Listed on the Copiapo passenger list.]  The continuous San Francisco rainfall record extends back to August 14, 1849 when Thomas Tennant, a maker of nautical and mathematical instruments, began taking daily measurements upon his arrival in San Francisco. Tennant was born a Quaker in Philadelphia in 1822, and apprenticed as an instrument maker. Early in 1849 he made the 95-day journey to California from the east coast via the Panama Canal, walking the final 110 miles from Monterey. While waiting for his instruments to arrive from the East, Thomas Tennant served as a surveyor and also as a miner (Bay of San Francisco: A History, 1892). 

When he finally set up his shop, making nautical instruments for the many ships stopping at San Francisco during the Gold Rush, he installed a rain gauge on the roof. This location was on the northeast corner of Union and DuPont (now Grant), and was the first of six locations at which Thomas Tennant would take observations between August 14, 1849 and February 1, 1871. These sites were all confined to a relatively small area in the northeastern quadrant of San Francisco. He supplied his meteorological data, along with sunrise, sunset, moon and tide tables, to the local newspapers, published tables of tides and a nautical almanac for navigation of the Pacific Coast, rated chronometers, for years. His meteorological data were eventually published in Tennant's Nautical Almanac beginning in 1868 and continuing until 1890.

Tennant became a prominent San Franciscan and served three terms as a member of the Board of Supervisors. During his tenure as a surveyor he designed the street layout for all of San Francisco west of Larkin Street, and the house numbering system that is still in use (Bay of San Francisco: A History, 1892). 

1849-7-2  

Likely Abrams is correct about this being the SS Panama, which set sail May 18 from Panama, reached San Francisco June 8, set sail from S.F., June 19, and made Panama on July 12th. SS Panama makes about 8 mph, brig Copiapo made 1.3 mph thru the doldrums.

1849-7-30   

Capt. Knowles may not have had accurate charts or this part of the California coast. In this portion of the journey several inaccurate sightings are made. This sighting was likely Santa Catalina Island which stands between 33° 17'N and 33° 29'N. They were heading toward Los Angeles. 

1849-8-1 

Marine charts for the area along California’s channel islands and Point Conception during this period were notoriously incorrect resulting in numerous shipwrecks. Currents, counter-currents, early morning fogs, and changing winds made this area unpredictable. Thinking they are past Point Conception, Capt. Knowles heads north. They likely came near striking rocks near Palos Verdes Point, west end of Palos Verdes Peninsula, which lies at latitude 33° 46'. Capt. Knowles may have realized his error, for the next bearing they are 50 miles further west. Latitude 33°45' would put their position off Los Angeles. No longitudes were recorded for the past three days, maybe they were sailing in dense fog, common in summer, or the chronometer had not been reset.
1849-8-6   

Cone Peak, at 36° 30' elevation 5180 feet, Cone Peak is the most spectacular mountain on the Big Sur coast of California. It is the second highest mountain (Junipero Serra Peak is higher) in the Santa Lucia Range. It has a dramatic setting less than 3 miles as crow flies from the Pacific Ocean, its average gradient from sea level to the summit is about 33%, which is steeper on average than the gradient from Owens Valley to Mount Whitney.
     Cone Peak is a mountain of marble that has been sculpted by erosion to its present steepness. The three canyons of Limekiln Creek that flows from Cone Peak are spectacularly deep, with dense stands of coast redwoods. 
1849-8-14    “Was [a] little hurt at some portion of the news and think I will have redress someday.”  Finally getting his mail in San Francisco Abrams is referring to news of the death of Cyrus Colby, his 1st cousin, whom he mentions later as his trusted blacksmith. Cyrus Colby was Abrams' 1839 traveling companion on their voyage from New Hampshire via the Erie Canal and Mississippi River to Gainesville, Alabama. Mr. Colby died 13 April 1849 in Eutaw, Alabama, a month after Abrams started on his journey. See also footnotes for 1849-3-14.
1849-8-28  * 

George Henry Corliss was a manufacturer of steam engines.

1849-9-2   "Stanislaus Diggins" 


"Stanislaus Diggins" was a generic term referring to the mining areas east of Stockton which included the areas around Mokelumne, Calaveras, and Stanislaus rivers. Abrams calls their placer mine Stanislaus Camp or Eutaw Camp, named for a town in Alabama and a town in Connecticut where Mr. Ducette, one of their party, was born.  Erwin Gudde in his book (1975) “California Gold Camps” incorrectly identifies their Stanislaus Camp location as near Robinson’s Ferry, a trail crossing of the Stanislaus River along the road between Sonora and Angels (Angels Camp). Currently Robinson’s Ferry is under New Melones Reservoir very close to the current Highway 49 bridge over this reservoir.


Mr. Charles Weber founded the town of Stockton, first named Reedville, in early 1849. Its location near the head of navigation on the San Joaquin River made it an excellent place for prospective miners to load their grubstake onto pack animals and head to the foothill mining areas.  In 1848 Weber hired several Mexicans and prospected in the immediate vicinity in 1848, taking out considerable gold.  After sailing with Damien and Selina Angier’s on the Pedraza from New Orleans to Chagres, Abrams and party met the Angier’s again crossing Panama and likely talked with them in Panama City and learned they were going to Stockton. They may have heard of the Stanislaus diggings from a New Orleans newspaper. The Angier’s traveled from Panama to San Francisco by steamer, Damien Angier set up a mule train operation into the mining country. Upon arrival in Stockton, Abrams met with Selina Angier who likely introduced him to Charles Weber, founder of Stockton. 

Abrams' Alabama Company might have intended on heading to the Stanislaus River or Stanislaus Mines.  Following the Old Stockton Road the party ended up going to the area east of current Mokelumne Hill on the north end of what is now Calaveras County.  In this area is a creek named Alabama Gulch and another creek called Indian Gulch is very close by.  Mention is made of Mr. Bowen, one of the men in the Alabama Company, prospecting in Indian Gulch.  Alabama Hill and Upper Rich Gulch are other nearby areas mentioned.  John Doble's Journal mentions the Eutaw Company in conjunction with Charles Grunsky, a recruit into the Eutaw Company after Abrams left, and states that the men were from Alabama. Mrs. Selina Angier and her husband Damien, whom Abrams may have known from Alabama, established a store at Pleasant Springs, southwest side of Alabama Hill, near current Glencoe.  An "Aha!" moment came when Chet Ogan read John Doble's Diary and saw this link between Doble's mention of Eutaw Camp and Alabama Hill and the Angier family, which Doble placed near Alabama Gulch between Mokelumne River and Calaveras River.

1949-9-13  Eutaw diggings (Kioti Diggings near Placerville would be at least 28 miles as the crow flies, John Doble, who spent some time with Angier's and Charles Grunsky at Alabama Hill in 1850 took a long day to walk to Volcano, about 7 miles north, those hills are steep and rugged.  [Chet Ogan finds John Doble's diary particularly useful because not only does it imply the connection to Chet Ogan's maternal GG grandfather Abrams along Calaveras River but also on October 3, 1853, Doble refers to the Missouri wagon train emigrants traveling through Volcano, Amador County, which included another GG Grandfather, James Simeral Ogan.]

Area around Eutaw Diggins and Alabama Hill. Indian Gulch and Rich Bar are mentioned in journal entries.
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From Between the Rivers by O. Henry Mace

1849-9-29

Capt. Tobin, Mexican War correspondent and journalist for New Orleans Delta. After the Mexican War Capt. Tobin rushed to California with other gold seekers. Instead of finding fortune, in December 1849 he succumbed to dysentery
1849-10-4

Abrams: "Concluded to work today and start for Murphy's Ranch tonight by way of San. F  D A engages my passage and fixes up my provision bag…"  

Darien Angier helps his friend pack for the trip to San Francisco and San Jose, referred to as Pueblo, which was, prior to the Gold Rush, the most populated part of northern California.  Martin Murphy Sr had five sons, Martin, James, Bernard, John, and Daniel. John Murphy owned a ranch along Cosumnes River near present day Elk Grove, and with Daniel, a ranch at Vallecito on Angel's Creek, east of Angel's Camp. Later Daniel Murphy founded the nearby town of Murphy.  In San Jose Pueblo area, Martin Murphy Sr. owned Rancho Pastoria de las Borregas and Rancho Milpitas where he established fruit orchards. Near Gilroy he owned Rancho Ojo de Agua Coche. Daniel Murphy owned Rancho San Francisco de Las Llagas immediately south of his father's Gilroy ranch. Both Rancho Milpitas and Rancho San Francisco de Las Llagas had intermittent creeks and were near wooded areas. 

Between 1849-10-8 and 1849-10-18

The journal entry for 1849-10-18, in pencil is very faint and almost unreadable. The next page is blank, suggesting Abrams intended to summarize his experiences over this past period of 10 days.  Other times when Abrams' journal is "silent," Abrams does not have it with him, it is safely stashed. In this 10-day period he travels to the Murphy's ranch or ranches near San Jose and Gilroy, travels to the confluence of Merced River and South Fork Merced River where James Savage has a trading post, and back to San Francisco, walking at least part way from Pueblo San Jose to S.F.  It is most likely that Abrams went to San Jose with Daniel Murphy and looked at the Murphy family ranches for possible mill locations [see entry for Sat. Oct 20]. I think that after seeing the ranches near San Jose, the Murphy's provide Abrams and Reamer with a guide and horses or mules to take them to John Savage's trading post then back to San Jose where the riding stock is returned and Abrams walks back to San Francisco.  Accounting for the distances he traveled and the rugged terrain this would make sense.  There were established trails over Pacheco Pass to Gilroy and along Del Puerto Canyon to San Jose.  This seems the only way they could have covered the distances traveled, around 180 miles each way between San Jose and Merced River, in the 11-day period between October 7th or 8th and October 18th, 1849

Abrams is first given credit for the first accurate written description of Yosemite Valley in Westways Magazine March 1954 issue in the article "The Forgotten Pioneer" by Weldon F. Heald.  Another account of this discovery is presented by Dennis Kruska in the Summer 1990, Vol. 52, No, 3 issue of Yosemite magazine in the article "William Penn Abrams: Forgotten Yosemite Adventurer."

1849-10-18  Maj. James Savage.  The reader is referred to the book DiSCOVERY OF THE YOSEMITE by Lafayette H. Bunnell.  The edition copyright 1990 by Yosemite Association credits William Penn Abrams in the preface with the first recognizable description of Yosemite in October 1849.  This book, first published 1880, was written from the recollections and notes of Dr. Bunnell, a physician with the Mariposa Battalion, the first white party to enter Yosemite Valley in March 1851.  He was a contemporary of Maj. James Savage, who was appointed an Indian agent.  

1849-10-22  Lt. James McCormick was ordered to sail the U.S. Steam Propeller Edith to San Diego to bring back delegates from southern California to the California Constitutional Convention being held in Monterey in September.  On this date he was busy fitting the ship at Sausalito. USS Edith departed Sausalito, California on 23 August 1849 en route to Santa Barbara, California, but encountered dense fog, which made accurate observations impossible. On the morning of 24 August she grounded on an uninhabited part of the coast and was lost. A court of inquiry held in January 1850 exonerated her commander and his crew from any guilt.  The area around Point Conception was very poorly charted.  The Edith was a unique ship. Besides being a steamship designed by Ericson she was also fitted with an extendible mast.  
Sausalito Historical Society

A Non-Profit Alive with the Past Since 1975

Sausalito’s First Sawmill
July 12, 2017
By Larry Clinton

The following is excerpted from Jack Tracy’s book “Moments in Time”:
[image: image2]
By 1849 as the drive for California statehood got under way, the military commander of San Francisco Bay was Colonel Richard Barnes Mason, with Commodore Thomas ap Catesby Jones in charge of the half dozen ships of the Navy's Pacific Squadron. Commodore Jones was well acquainted with Sausalito. His ships were supplied with water there and the anchorage in the cove gave quick access to the bay entrance, or "Golden Gate," as Fremont had christened it.

Jones's problems as Commodore were compounded by the discovery of gold in the hills east of San Francisco. Hundreds of ships, American and foreign, arrived in 1849, straining Jones's resources for keeping order. Thousands of men, crews and passengers, civilian and Navy, left USS Edith their ships in Yerba Buena Cove and joined the mad scramble for El Dorado.
Not the least of Commodore Jones's problems was the lack of dry dock and repair facilities in California. While taking on water in the cove, Jones and other officers had observed the potential of Sausalito's flat tidal beach; so he established a makeshift dry dock there and put it to a test that summer.

In 1847, even before gold was discovered in California, Commodore Jones had requested the Navy Department in Washington to send a combination sawmill and gristmill around the horn to San Francisco where he needed lumber for ship repairs, and ground flour to feed his sailors. In November 1848 the sawmill and steam engine parts arrived and were dumped on the beach in Yerba Buena Cove and left scattered about as the ship's crew set off for the gold country. Commodore Jones, still eager to establish a repair facility for his ships, signed a contract with Robert A. Parker, a San Franciscan civilian entrepreneur to assemble and operate the sawmill in the cove at Sausalito.

When Commodore Jones informed Washington of his sawmill contract with Robert Parker, the Navy disavowed Jones's right to enter into a contract with a civilian, ordering Jones to reclaim the sawmill and settle accounts with Parker. But Robert Parker had assigned the contract to Lt. James McCormick, who had become superintendent of the Sausalito sawmill and was drawing a salary of $2,500 a year while still on active duty with the Navy.

Slowly, the Navy Department pieced together the whole story of the troublesome sawmill in the unknown little cove that they referred in dispatches to as "Sawcelito." Like so many instant towns that had sprung up during the gold rush wherever a speculator could get a large enough parcel to subdivide into lots, Sausalito had been hastily conceived, with a Navy sawmill as its big attraction.

Robert Parker dropped out of the picture in Sausalito, perhaps because his main interest, the gristmill, never materialized or was stolen from the beach in Yerba Buena. In any case, during the gold rush, Parker was busy with his grocery and liquor business in San Francisco. There he also ran the "Parker House," where in 1851 he was charging $1,500 a month for a room.

The sawmill operation in Sausalito did a brisk business in 1850, selling pine planks and assorted redwood lumber to the Navy as well as to ranchers and builders. Even William Richardson bought lumber from the mill and in turn sold beef to McCormick for his sawmill crew, many of whom were moonlighting sailors. Even so, the mill never lived up to expectations. During the winters it was more difficult than had been anticipated to fell redwoods beyond Corte Madera Creek and raft the logs down Richardson's Bay to the cove.

Finally, in 1851 the Navy demanded that the mill be seized from McCormick and sold at auction. McCormick made a detailed accounting of his and Parker's expenses and receipts. Referees for the Navy and McCormick's attorney Charles Botts concluded that McCormick was owed $25,766.64 to cover the difference between his costs and revenue from the mill.

The Navy refused payment, not surprisingly, since McCormick had listed among other expenses payments to navy personnel for loading navy lumber onto navy vessels in Sausalito. The dispute over the $25,000 shifted from Sausalito to Washington, D.C. in 1851 when the "McCormick Case" went before Congress. Rep. Jonathon Minor Botts of Virginia, brother of Charles Botts, now owner of old Sausalito, had a bill introduced to appropriate $25,000 as a settlement to McCormick for the sawmill operation.

The Navy announced in 1852 that the site for a new Navy Yard on the West Coast would be Mare Island. A study had been conducted by Commodore McCauley, who had replaced Commodore Jones in 1851, to find the most eligible site for the naval arsenal and dry dock. McCauley, like Jones before him, recommended Sausalito. But other forces were at work. A group of enterprising men, with the support of General Mariano Vallejo, promoted Mare Island, the site next to the new town named by Vallejo's son-in-law John B. Frisbie in honor of the General. Mare Island was selected, possibly because of the cloud of doubt raised over Sausalito by the conduct of certain Naval officers. Officially it was chosen because of its deep channel and its strategic distance from the Golden Gate.

“Moments in Time,” Tracy’s seminal history of Sausalito, is available at the Ice House Visitors Center and Historical Museum, which is open from 11:30-4:00, Tuesday through Sunday, at 780 Bridgeway.
1849-10-22 Maj. Robert S. Garnett was with Lt. James McCormick when the USS steam propeller Edith grounded on Aug 24, 1849.  Maj. Garnett was later responsible for designing the Great Seal of the State of California.  On this seal is a depiction of a propeller driven steamship, which is considered by some to represent the USS Edith.

For grounding of the USS Edith, Lt. McCormick was given a court martial. To view the interesting proceedings of this court marshal hearing the reader is directed to Congressional Edition, Volume 685 pages 170 to 175. 

1849-10-24 Stephen Coffin.  " Have spent this eve in making an estimate of the cost of putting up saw mill in Oregon for Mr. Coffin"-
About Oct 20th  in San Francisco, Abrams reconnects with Cyrus Reed, a fellow passenger on the brig Copiapo from Panama to Monterey, California.  Mr. Reed, employing himself in San Francisco as a sign painter, met Stephen Coffin and learned he was seeking someone to build a steam sawmill in Portland, Oregon.  Mr. Botts is also seeking someone to operate a sawmill in Sausalito, across the Golden Gate (named by John C Fremont) from San Francisco.
Personal correspondence April 2, 2017, from Dr. Roger Paget, who is a descendant of both Cyrus Reed and Stephen Coffin: 
About 4 days earlier (Oct 20th) Abrams met with Mr. Stephen Coffin of Portland, Oregon and made an estimate and specification for building a steam sawmill and a few days after made an agreement to go to Portland to erect and take charge of the mill at a salary of $300 per month, and sailed for the above named place Nov. 12th 1849 in the brig "Sequin," Capt. C. Z. Norton, paying $100, a part of which he was compelled to borrow.  The Sequin was a small brig about 200 tons, built in Maine by Capt. Norton in 1847, who accompanied by his wife, Caroline [nee Clarke], came around the horn the previous year, "and perpetuated her name by delivering at Portland (1849) the first mail that had arrived in U.S. Postal sacks." 
According to Mrs. Norton they set sail out of San Francisco on November 12, 1849.  They had a fine run of five days to the Columbia River.  
Abrams notes in his journal entry a year later: "

Monday  [Nov.] 18th 1850   One year ago this day I landed in the mouth of the Columbia River and was rejoiced that I had escaped shipwreck."  

According to stories recalled by Mr. Abrams to his wife and friend Seth Pope, in attempting to enter the river, the brig was struck three times by large waves on the north sand bar, each breaker as it passed over her depositing sand on her decks.  She was finally pushed over the bar by the seas and reached Baker's Bay without much damage, where the brig anchored to make repairs.  For want of a bar pilot and due to strong storm winds, Capt. Norton made north to Puget Sound for protection, returning in ten days. 

Anxious to get to Portland, Mr. Coffin procured a dugout canoe and crew of Indians, for which he paid $25 and "grub." The Indian village of Chinook on Baker Bay was well known for its craftsmen who built cedar dugout canoes. Mr. Abrams packed a carpetbag and valise and his heavy blue coat for what he likely thought would be a couple of weeks until the brig arrived with his trunk and the steam engine.  Mr. Coffin, Mr. Reed, and Mr. Abrams disembarked the brig at Bakers Bay Dec. 2, 1849, and started up the river.  Paddling off Point Chinook they encountered a gale and came near to swamping. The 11-day journey by canoe up the river was a cold and wet one, they arrived at Portland about the 13th of December 1849, Reed and Abrams immediately began building a foundation and getting the timbers hewed for a steam mill, located between the foot of Madison and Jefferson streets.  The timbers were hewn from trees growing on the blocks now between Front and Third streets, and Main and Columbia.  Competent help was very hard to get.  

According to letters written to her family, Mrs. Caroline Norton, wife of Capt. Zachariah Norton, the brig Sequin was sailing by day and anchoring each night, probably fighting floating logs, tides and currents, and unfavorable winds and ice, navigating past uncharted gravel bars, made a landing at Portland 65 days later (late January 1850), [Caroline Norton. “Voyage of the Sequin.” Oregon Historical Society Quarterly Vol. 34, No. 3 (Sep., 1933) pgs 255-258.] 
Probably not wanting to alarm her New England family, Caroline Norton does not mention being washed over the bar by waves in the first attempt at entering the Columbia River.  

1850-2-9

From October 27, 1849 until this date there is a three-month break in the Abrams journal entries, when we find him in Portland, Oregon, in the employ of Mr. Coffin putting up a mill.  [Note: Chet Ogan- As with the previous journal hiatus between October 7 and Oct 18, I suspect that Mr. Abrams’ journal was in his trunk aboard the brig Sequin for safekeeping.

1850-Feb.-9

Reunited with his journal Abrams summarizes his activities of the past three months.  

A brief note on Cyrus Reed from an Oregon biography:
While still in San Francisco Mr. Reed met an old friend, Mr. Abrams, and together the two came to Portland, then an almost unbroken forest, and the latter invested his money in building a steam sawmill, being the first north of San Francisco. This was located at the foot of Jefferson and Madison streets, and here Mr. Reed began to work at the excavation for the foundation, and later assisted in building and putting in the machinery, though not an engineer, being skillful with tools. Soon after the mill was ready for occupancy Mr. Abrams settled up with his men and Mr. Reed received $8 per day for his work. He then returned to his former work, engaging as a teacher in Portland, conducting the second term ever held in this city. The average attendance was sixty-six pupils at $10 per quarter, and while engaged in this work he also kept a set of books for Stephen Coffin, who conducted a general merchandise store and was then the moneyed man of the town. In fact, it was Coffin’s money that erected the sawmill with which Mr. Reed was connected. Mr. Reed made out the conveyances of sale for the lots of the city, and was so entirely trusted by his employer that he had the greater part of the management of the business on his hands. July 7, 1850, he married Mr. Coffin's daughter, Lucinda, who was born in Indiana in 1836 and came with her father to Oregon City, in 1848, and later settled in Portland, Oregon. 

In 1851 Mr. Reed purchased a one-fifth interest in the milling business, which was then known as the firm of Coffin & Abrams, and acted as salesman and bookkeeper until July, 1852, when he sold out and removed to Salem, Ore. 
1850-Feb 13

Wednesday 13th. Another prosperous day's work. Hope to have the frame together by tomorrow night and all pieced together handsomely

Note: The frame for the mill house was 40 feet by 80 feet and 2 stories high, made from rough- hewn Douglas fir from the riverfront in Portland. There were not enough able-bodied men in Portland to lift the beams for the second floor.  Mr. Coffin went to Milwaukie, Oregon, to bring men down to help.  Cyrus Reed, a trained engineer, rigged a gin and pole to lift the beams up, staking his reputation on the task.
1850-Nov-17

Here is Seth Pope's account of the Abrams 5 months of travels between his departure from Portland on 15 June 1850 and 17 November 1850 when Abrams again begins his journal.  Abrams became well acquainted with Seth Pope about 1860 in a venture to set up steamboat transportation and two sawmills in Idaho Territory servicing a gold rush in the Idaho panhandle and adjacent Canada.  For more about this Abrams venture read Linda Hackbarth "Trail to Gold: The Pend Orielle Route." Published by Museum of Northern Idaho, 2014. Seth Pope spent much time over the next 50 years with years with the Abrams, accepted almost as a second son. After Abrams died in1873 Pope lived with Vina in her waning years, 1905 to 1909.  Her son was managing hotels in Massachusetts.

May 17th, 1850. A friend called on Abrams and said Mr. Coffin had given notice through the Oregon City paper that Mr. Abrams would leave for the States about June 15th.  Mr. Abrams was greatly pleased at the prospect of such a trip, and from this date no notes were made; some memorandums prove that he worked most day and night getting the mill in the best order and instructing men in its operation.  He had succeeded in getting an engineer and a man to attend the saw.  As the time for his departure drew near, Mr. Reed, Mr. Hastings, and others started a subscription to purchase books for a Public Library. Subscriptions were liberal, and about $1200 was raised and placed in Mr. Abrams hand, with results as shown later.

The following may be from one of the missing Abrams journals, chronicling the period between May 19 and November 17, 1850, to which Seth Pope had access:

June 17, 1850 the steamer Carolina, Capt. Wood, arrived at Portland. (The first American passenger steamer to enter the Columbia River.) This steamer also carried the first U. S. mail received at San Francisco, via the Isthmus.  

June 26th, Mr. Abrams writes, "This morning I am happy, though I have been to work almost all night, but the object is to enable me to return to my family.  Wrote up the books, arranged papers, and gave final instructions regarding the work and just before daylight lay down for a nap, but was wakened by the U. S. Postal agent (Daniel H. Lownsdale) coming in with dispatches for me to transmit to Washington.  Just then someone said the steamer was weighing anchor, so with many kind wishes from friends, I reached the steamer just in time, and at 7 A.M. proceeded down the river and found myself at last on my way to my loved ones, “the scenery along the river being much more interesting than when I paddled up with an Indian crew.”

The steamer touched at Vancouver to take some officers and men, remaining an hour giving them an opportunity to see the place, and again touched at Milton, a small place on Scappoose Bay above St. Helens (now only known to pioneers- Seth Pope's note), which then was a rival to Portland, but not a dangerous one.  At this point there was a small water-powered sawmill and a store and three or four houses, all being owned by Mr. Thomas H. Smith and Capt. Nathaniel Crosby.  The brig Grecian belonged to this firm and frequently loaded there. The bark James W. Page also transported lumber from Milton in 1851. The place was abandoned about 1854, St. Helens, a nearby town having more prominence. Among the passengers to San Francisco were Gov. Abernathy and family on their way to the States.  Gen. Stephen Coffin and future wife also took passage for San Francisco.  

They were detained at Astoria waiting for the tide, but after a pleasant run reached [San Francisco] July 1st, and went along side the steamer California just in time for Mr. Abrams to get aboard.    “…found a comfortable berth which, with passage, cost $300 and at night was at sea again.

The steamer stopped at Monterey where he touched when on the Copiapo eleven months before, also at San Diego where they took on board some bullocks for "muck a muck," (Chinook Indian jargon for food). They passed the steamer Isthmus, bound north “literally covered with passengers like a swarm of bees.”

July 9th, touched at Mazatlan where a crazed passenger jumped overboard but was rescued and placed under the doctors’ care.

Arriving at Acapulco July 13th he took a ramble over the city and found where he had carved his name on the walls of the fort on the hill, thirteen months before.

July 22nd, arrived at Panama where he met a cousin and her husband on their way to California [John Crocker arrived in California in September 1850], and from whom he heard the latest news from home.  Procuring a mule he rode to Cruces the first day and reached Chagres in time to take steamer Georgia for New York. (Here the memorandum ends.)

Delivering his dispatches in New York and learning his family were still at Gainesville, Abrams proceeded there and closed out his business interests, and with his wife and two children took the stage to Richmond [Virginia] thence by train to New Hampshire arriving about the last of August, and made preparation to bring his family around Cape Horn.  While in New York he met Mr. Henry W. Corbett several times, to whom, determined to send some goods to Portland, Mr. Abrams gave him all the information he possessed regarding the place.  Mr. Corbett himself laded hardware goods on the "Francis and Louisa” and came to Portland via steamers and the isthmus of Panama.

The funds received for the purchase of library books Abrams “placed in the hands of Messrs Harper Bros. in lower Manhattan and asked them to make the selection which they did to about twelve hundred volumes and packed [them] in boxes ready to ship. The bark “Francis and Louise” of two hundred and sixty tons, Capt. Seth Mayo, Master, was chartered and loaded with general merchandise, including Mr. Corbett’s [hardware] venture.  Having procured all things necessary for furnishing and keeping his own house, [Abrams] embarked with his family consisting of his wife, his children Sarah L. and William R. (latter 2 1/2 years old) also his brother Daniel K. Abrams, sailing from New York Nov. 7th 1850.  

The first ten days they had severe weather and all were sick.  When they reached farther eastward the weather improved and [Mr. Abrams] got out his tool chest, rigged up a bench, and. spent most of the pleasant days at work making a tool chest, a writing desk, and a bureau, having procured the material before leaving.  His children still retain the two latter articles. Before reaching the Equator his wife and son were taken ill, and he prescribed for them, which he also did for others and was called upon to prescribe for some of the crew.

They had access to some of the library books so they were enabled to find plenty to read.  While off the Horn the crew caught several albatross, one Wandering Albatross measuring ten feet from tip to tip of his wings. 

    

1851-Jan-25  "Lowered the quarter boat this afternoon and had a pull after porpoises & a duck. Were unsuccessful. . ." Likely a Steamer Duck, often solitary.
1851-May-12  " Sent my letters yesterday to California to Reamer, Hibben, [to the] States to Chapman."

Unknown to Abrams, the obituary of Upton H. Reamer of Eutaw, Alabama, was announced 4 months earlier in the Stockton Times Jan 2, 1851. He died in Stockton. 


This first mill burned in December 1854, the family moved to Corvallis, Oregon, in April 1855 and Abrams built a steam mill there. Returning to Portland in 1857, he built a new mill there.  

     In the spring of 1862 the family moved to The Dalles, Oregon, where he remained until July 1870, again returning to Portland.  During this period in The Dalles, Abrams and Seth Pope and several other partners started a steamship company, Pope operating the steamer “Mary Moody” on Lake Pen d‘Orielle, Idaho, while Abrams built a sawmill at Cabinet, on the Clark Fork, during the gold rush in northern Idaho and British Columbia. A book “Trail to Gold” by Linda Hackbarth (2014) was written about this venture involving Gen. Ainsworth, Gov. Moody. Harvey Hogue, William P. Abrams, and others. Abrams went to the East in the late 1860s and bought parts for a woolen mill that he built in The Dalles.
     While working on his mill on a cold November night in 1873 William suffered a severe fall from an icy beam and died of his injuries on 26 November 1873. 

 “A man of indomitable perseverance, a great mechanic and a thorough master of his business, a man universally beloved for his noble and consistent character.  A sincere friend and a conscientious and successful worker in the church and sabbath school.  Beloved in life, his memory is cherished by all who knew him.”
- a eulogy to him.
His journal for the period March 1849 to May 1851 is held at Bancroft Library, UC Berkeley, California, BANC MSS C-F 65.  A transcription of this journal is online at      truwe.sohs.org/files/abrams.html

Other manuscripts and journals by Abrams are held at Alabama State University Library, Tuscaloosa, Alabama, and at Oregon State Historical Society, Portland, Oregon.
   For more information contact Chet Ogan, (707) 442-9353, Eureka, CA. chetogan@gmail.com
